MUMBAI SILICONVALLEY BANGALORE SINGAPORE MUMBAIBKC NEWDELHI MUNICH NEWYORK

Multilateral Instrument Comes into Force in India

October 2019



concierge@nishithdesai.com

About NDA

We are an India Centric Global law firm **(www.nishithdesai.com)** with four offices in India and the only law firm with license to practice Indian law from our Munich, Singapore, Palo Alto and New York offices. We are a firm of specialists and the go-to firm for companies that want to conduct business in India, navigate its complex business regulations and grow. Over 70% of our clients are foreign multinationals and over 84.5% are repeat clients.

Our reputation is well regarded for handling complex high value transactions and cross border litigation; that prestige extends to engaging and mentoring the start-up community that we passionately support and encourage. We also enjoy global recognition for our research with an ability to anticipate and address challenges from a strategic, legal and tax perspective in an integrated way. In fact, the framework and standards for the Asset Management industry within India was pioneered by us in the early 1990s, and we continue remain respected industry experts.

We are a research based law firm and have just set up a first-of-its kind IOT-driven Blue Sky Thinking & Research Campus named Imaginarium AliGunjan (near Mumbai, India), dedicated to exploring the future of law & society. We are consistently ranked at the top as Asia's most innovative law practice by Financial Times. NDA is renowned for its advanced predictive legal practice and constantly conducts original research into emerging areas of the law such as Blockchain, Artificial Intelligence, Designer Babies, Flying Cars, Autonomous vehicles, IOT, AI & Robotics, Medical Devices, Genetic Engineering amongst others and enjoy high credibility in respect of our independent research and assist number of ministries in their policy and regulatory work.

The safety and security of our client's information and confidentiality is of paramount importance to us. To this end, we are hugely invested in the latest security systems and technology of military grade. We are a socially conscious law firm and do extensive pro-bono and public policy work. We have significant diversity with female employees in the range of about 49% and many in leadership positions.

Accolades

A brief chronicle our firm's global acclaim for its achievements and prowess through the years –

- Legal500: Tier 1 for Tax, Investment Funds, Labour & Employment, TMT and Corporate M&A 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012
- Chambers and Partners Asia Pacific: Band 1 for Employment, Lifesciences, Tax and TMT 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015
- **IFLR1000:** Tier 1 for Private Equity and Project Development: Telecommunications Networks. 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2014
- AsiaLaw Asia-Pacific Guide 2020: Tier 1 (Outstanding) for TMT, Labour & Employment, Private Equity, Regulatory and Tax
- FT Innovative Lawyers Asia Pacific 2019 Awards: NDA ranked 2nd in the Most Innovative Law Firm category (Asia-Pacific Headquartered)
- RSG-Financial Times: India's Most Innovative Law Firm 2019, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014
- Benchmark Litigation Asia-Pacific: Tier 1 for Government & Regulatory and Tax 2019, 2018
- Who's Who Legal 2019:
 - Nishith Desai, Corporate Tax and Private Funds Thought Leader Vikram Shroff, HR and Employment Law- Global Thought Leader Vaibhav Parikh, Data Practices - Thought Leader (India) Dr. Milind Antani, Pharma & Healthcare – only Indian Lawyer to be recognized for 'Life sciences-Regulatory,' for 5 years consecutively
- Merger Market 2018: Fastest growing M&A Law Firm in India
- Asia Mena Counsel's In-House Community Firms Survey 2018: The only Indian Firm recognized for Life Sciences
- IDEX Legal Awards 2015: Nishith Desai Associates won the "M&A Deal of the year", "Best Dispute Management lawyer", "Best Use of Innovation and Technology in a law firm" and "Best Dispute Management Firm"

Please see the last page of this paper for the most recent research papers by our experts.

Disclaimer

This report is a copy right of Nishith Desai Associates. No reader should act on the basis of any statement contained herein without seeking professional advice. The authors and the firm expressly disclaim all and any liability to any person who has read this report, or otherwise, in respect of anything, and of consequences of anything done, or omitted to be done by any such person in reliance upon the contents of this report.

Contact

For any help or assistance please email us on **concierge@nishithdesai.com** or visit us at www.nishithdesai.com

Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	01
2.	HOW IT WORKS	02
3.	ENTRY INTO FORCE & EFFECT	05
4.	TRANSPARENT ENTITIES	07
5.	DUAL RESIDENT ENTITIES	09
6.	APPLICATION OF METHODS FOR ELIMINATION OF DOUBLE TAXATION	11
7.	PURPOSE OF A COVERED TAX AGREEMENT	13
8.	PREVENTION OF TREATY ABUSE	15
9.	DIVIDEND TRANSFER TRANSACTIONS	17
10.	CAPITAL GAINS ON SHARES IN REAL ESTATE COMPANIES	19
11.	THIRD-COUNTRY PE	21
12.	SAVINGS CLAUSE	23
13.	ARTIFICIAL AVOIDANCE OF PE STATUS - COMMISSIONAIRE ARRANGEMENTS	25
14.	ARTIFICIAL AVOIDANCE OF PE STATUS – SPECIFIC ACTIVITY EXEMPTION	27
15.	SPLITTING-UP OF CONTRACTS	29
17.	MUTUAL AGREEMENT PROCEDURE	33
18.	CORRESPONDING ADJUSTMENTS	35

1. Introduction

On October 1st, 2019, the Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty Related Measures to Prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting, otherwise referred to as the Multilateral Instrument or MLI, came into force.¹

When it comes into effect², the MLI will amend the bilateral tax treaties of its signatories to ensure that certain minimum international tax standards are met. The implications of this development are significant for international businesses and investors, especially those seeking to avail benefits under India's network of bilateral tax treaties. Importantly, out of 93 CTAs notified by India, 26³ countries have already ratified the MLI as on date and the Double Taxation Avoidance Agreement (DTAA) with these countries will be modified by MLI. For the remaining Covered Tax Agreements ("CTAs"), MLI will take effect as and when these countries ratify the MLI.

While the signatories to the MLI include some of India's strategically important trading partners such as the United Kingdom, Canada, Germany, Japan and France, some countries, like the United States and Brazil, have chosen to not sign the MLI. Other countries, like Mauritius, Iceland, Switzerland and Germany, while signing the MLI have not made it applicable to their tax treaty with India.4

Further, in respect of the 26 treaty partners of India who have deposited the Instrument of Ratification on or before 30th June, 2019, entry into effect for India under MLI with respect to the DTAA shall be from financial year 2020-21 onwards, which starts from April 1st, 2020.

It is also important to note that despite being signatories to the MLI, India and Spain have bilaterally inserted a limitation of benefits clause in the India-Spain DTAA recently that is not in line with the MLI LOB, expressly permitting the applicability of domestic GAAR. Therefore till such time Spain submits a ratified instrument the amended India – Spain DTAA shall continue to apply.

Therefore, a thorough understanding of the impact of the MLI is essential, not just for structuring future cross-border operations and investments but also to re-confirm the availability of treaty benefits for existing structures and arrangements.

This summary sets out and analyses the potential impact of the MLI positions adopted by India and some of its key trading and treaty partners, and assesses the impact on India's tax treaties with these jurisdictions.

It was signed by India on June 7, 2017 and ratified on May 27, 2010.

^{2.} Please refer to section below on entry into effect for further details.

^{3.} Austria, Australia, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Georgia, Ireland, Israel, Japan, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Russia, Serbia, Singapore, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Sweden, United Kingdom and UAE.

^{4.} While Iceland and Switzerland have submitted its ratified instrument with OECD, Mauritius and Germany are yet to submit their ratified instruments. Therefore, this position may not be final and may be subject to change. Current analysis is based on the interim positions adopted by these countries.

2. How it Works

While the MLI came into force on July 1, 2018 (following its ratification by five countries), for India, the MLI came into force on 1st October, 2019.⁵

Upon coming into effect, the MLI will not replace India's existing bilateral tax treaties entirely. Instead, it will apply alongside India's existing bilateral tax treaties and either supplement, complement, supersede or modify their application to bring them in line with the measures set out in the BEPS Action Reports.

Notification of Covered Tax Agreements.

Once the MLI comes into force, it will not automatically effect all India's tax treaties, but only those tax treaties where both India and her relevant treaty partner have conveyed their intention (by way of a notification) for their tax treaty to be covered by the MLI. Treaties intended to be covered by the MLI are referred to as "Covered Tax Agreements" ("CTAs"). In other words, the MLI will be applicable only to those bilateral tax treaties notified as CTAs by both India and the relevant treaty partner. India has notified 93 of its bilateral tax treaties as CTAs. However, as pointed out above, only 26 other treaty partners have both submitted the ratified instrument and chosen India to be one of their CTAs. Therefore, it is only those treaties that are going to be impacted currently.

Mandatory Minimum Standards under MLI.

Upon qualifying as a CTA, a tax treaty will be required to meet certain prescribed minimum standards i.e., the minimum standard for the prevention of treaty abuse under BEPS Action 6 (Preventing the Granting of Treaty Benefits in Inappropriate Circumstances) and the minimum standard for the improvement of dispute resolution under BEPS Action 14 (Making Dispute Resolution More Effective). India will have little leeway (almost none) to opt out of adherence to these minimum standards.

Where an MLI provision reflects a BEPS minimum standard, India can opt out of such provision only in limited situations such as where the CTA already meets the minimum standards. India and her treaty partners ("Treaty Partners" / "Contracting Jurisdictions") may also choose to opt out of a provision reflecting a minimum standard if they decide to reach a mutually satisfactory solution which is consistent with the minimum standard in some cases. Whether a CTA meets the minimum standards will be determined in the course of the review and monitoring process within the inclusive framework on BEPS.

India does however, have the flexibility to opt out (by way of reservations) of provisions that are not regarded as setting a minimum standard (see below).

Reservations with Respect to Non-Mandatory or Optional Provisions.

A signatory to the MLI may reserve the right for provisions of the MLI to not apply:

- a. to its covered tax treaties in their entirety; or
- b. a subset of its covered tax treaties.

Where India or one of its treaty partners reserve the right for provisions of the MLI to not apply to a CTA, the relevant provisions of the MLI will not apply to the CTA irrespective of whether the India or her treaty partner (as the case may be) has made a similar reservation. In case the reservation is made with respect to a sub-set of treaties, the party making the reservation must notify a list of treaties falling within the scope of the reservation. For example, Article 4(2) of the MLI provides Parties the option to reserve the right to not apply Article 4, which deals with "Dual Resident Entities", to its treaties which already provide that the tie-breaker test for residence of dual resident entities shall be decided by the competent authorities of both Treaty Partners through mutual agreement. Parties opting for this reservation would be required to notify their CTAs which already

On the first day of the month following the expiration of a period of three calendar months beginning on the date India deposits her instrument of ratification

contain such a provision, in which case, Article 4 would not apply to such CTAs.

Further, most articles of the MLI also provide that in the event a signatory:

- a. neither reserves the applicability of a particular MLI provision, nor
- b. notifies the relevant provisions of a bilateral tax treaty (where such notification is required);

then the respective MLI article will apply to its CTAs and will prevail over the relevant provision of the CTAs to the extent of such provisions are inconsistent.

Optional Provisions. In some instances, the MLI permits a signatory to choose among alternative provisions intended to address the same issue. A signatory is required to notify the Depositary of its choice. Unlike in the case of reservations, both Treaty Partners are required to choose the same option in order for such option to apply (except for Article 5 (Application of Methods for Elimination of Double Taxation) and 23(5) (Types of Arbitration Process) of the MLI). In the event that a signatory chooses a particular option, and its treaty partner chooses to apply a different option or no option at all, then none of the options will apply to the relevant CTA. For example, Article 13 of the MLI which deals with "Artificial Avoidance of Permanent Establishment Status through the Specific Activity Exemptions" provides for Parties to opt for either Option A or Option B to modify their CTAs. A particular option will apply to a CTA only when both Treaty Partners have elected that same option.

Notification clauses. Where an MLI provision supersedes or modifies an existing provision of a CTA, the Parties are generally required to make a notification specifying which CTAs contain such provisions and identify

the provisions. While Parties are expected to identify and notify such provisions on a best efforts basis, it is possible that a relevant existing provision is not identified by a signatory. Accordingly, the concept of provisional notifications has been introduced to deal with situations where a signatory to the MLI accidentally omits to notify a provision of a CTA, or Treaty Partners disagree regarding whether a provision is superseded or modified by the MLI, or where both Treaty Partners agree that there is a relevant provision but disagree about which one it is. In such a situation, the exchange of provisional notifications with the other Treaty Partner will afford signatories an opportunity to discuss mismatches in the notifications and correct them prior to finalization of the lists.

The signatories to the MLI (India included) have filed provisional notifications with the Depositary as allowed by the MLI at the time of signing of the treaty. The provisional MLI Position of each signatory indicates the tax treaties it intends to cover, the options it has chosen within those provided by the MLI and the reservations it has made. Signatories are normally expected to submit their final notifications at the time of submission of their instruments of ratification with the Depository of the OECD. Further, even after ratification, Parties can choose to opt in with respect to optional provisions or to withdraw reservations.

Compatibility Clauses. The MLI contains compatibility clauses that define the relationship between the MLI and the provisions of a CTA. These are intended to address overlap or conflicts between the provisions of the MLI and the provisions of a CTA. In other words, the compatibility clauses serve to determine whether the provision of the MLI would replace or modify the provisions of the CTA. The MLI contains four types of compatibility clauses as follows:

3

Type of compatibility clause	When does it apply	What is the effect on existing provision	Notification Requirement
MLI Provision applies "in place of" existing CTA provision	Only when there is an existing provision in the CTA	MLI provision replaces the existing CTA provision	All Treaty Partners have to notify existing CTA provision
MLI Provision "applies to" or "modifies" existing CTA provision	Only when there is an existing provision in the CTA	MLI provision changes the application of an existing provision without replacing it	All Treaty Partners have to notify existing CTA provision
MLI Provision applies "in absence of" existing CTA provision	Only when the provision is absent in the CTA	MLI provision is added to the CTA	All Treaty Partners have to notify absence of provision in CTA
MLI Provision applies "in place of" or "in absence of" existing CTA provision	Whether existing provision is present in CTA or absent	It replaces or supersedes existing provision, or is added to CTA in absence of existing provision.	 Where both parties notify existing provision, the provision gets replaced. Where one party notifies and other does not, the MLI provision supersedes CTA provision to the extent of incompatibility

3. Entry into Force & Effect

The timelines for the MLI to come into effect with respect to a CTA differ based on the type of taxation to which the modifications apply.

- For taxes which are withheld at source on amounts paid to non-residents, such as royalties, interest, capital gains etc. - MLI will enter into effect where the event giving rise to such withholding tax occurs on or after the first day of the next calendar year that begins on the later of the dates on which the MLI comes into force for each Treaty Partner ("CTA Date");
- Hence, referring to the above example, for taxes such as tax on business profits attributable to a PE, the MLI shall apply to such taxes levied in India from financial year 2020-21, whereas it will apply for the purpose of such taxes levied in Singapore on or after January 1, 2022.
- In effect, the changes to the CTAs can be expected to be in effect from 1st April, 2020.

This is illustrated by the table below:

Types of Taxes	Entry into effect	Applicability of MLI b	y India
Taxes which are required to be withheld on overseas payments	Event giving rise to the withholding tax takes place on or after the 1st day of the next year (calendar year or tax year) that begins on or after the CTA Date.	October 2019	From April 1, 2020, where applicable.
Other Taxes	Levied with respect to taxable periods beginning on or after an expiry of 6 calendar months from the CTA Date.	October 2019	From April 1, 2020, where applicable.

- For example, in case of India and Singapore, if the MLI enters into force for India on October 2019 and for Singapore on September 2020, the CTA Date is September 2020 and the MLI will come into effect for all withholding taxes under the India-Singapore tax treaty which relate to an event occurring on or after January 2021;
- For the purpose of its own application of MLI to withholding taxes, India has chosen to replace "taxable period" for "calendar year". Accordingly, in the above example, MLI will cover a withholding tax payable in India if the event giving rise to such tax takes place on or after April 1, 2021, while it will cover a withholding tax payable in Singapore if such event takes place on or after January 1, 2021;
- For all other taxes MLI will come into effect for taxable periods beginning on or after an expiry of 6 calendar months from the CTA Date.

Entry into effect for MAP. There is a separate rule provided for entry into effect of Article 16 on Mutual Agreement Procedure ("MAP"). Article 16 shall come into effect with respect to a CTA for a case presented to the competent authority of a Contracting Jurisdiction on or after the CTA Date irrespective of the taxable period to which the case relates. However, an exception is provided for cases that were not eligible to be presented for MAP as of the CTA Date under the treaty prior to its modification by MLI. The exception is intended to ensure that the MLI would not revive earlier cases which had been ineligible for MAP prior to entry into force of the MLI.

Therefore, it remains to be seen how the entry into effect of MLI for different income streams would practically play out for India vis-à-vis it Treaty Partners. Developments relating to ratification of MLI by different Parties, entry

into force of the MLI and entry into effect of MLI for each CTA should be closely followed and borne in mind while undertaking structuring exercises. We will endeavor to send an updated version of this summary as and when key changes occur.

It should be noted that India has chosen to apply the 30-day rule. Accordingly, the references to CTA Date in the section above should be read as 30 days after the date of receipt by the Depositary of the latest notification making a reservation to apply the 30-day rule under Article 35(7).

4. Transparent Entities

Paragraph I of Article 3 provides that income derived by or through a transparent entity will only be considered income of a resident of a treaty jurisdiction (and thus eligible for treaty benefits) to the extent that income is treated as income of a resident by that treaty jurisdiction. Paragraph 2 provides that the elimination of

double taxation is not available with respect to income which may be taxed by the treaty partner jurisdictions according to the provisions of a CTA to the extent that those provisions allow such taxation solely because the income is also income derived by a resident of that treaty partner jurisdiction.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	N N	USA	USA MAU LUX SWE SG UK JAP CAN FRA NED	rux	SWE	58	CK	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	IRE
Applies paragraph 1	3(1) & 3(2)	×	A A	×	>	×	×	>	>	×	×	%	>
Reserves the right not to apply paragraph 1 to CTAs that already contain similar provisions	3(5) (b)	×	Ą	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	>
Reserves the right not to apply paragraph 1 to CTAs which already contain provisions which identify in detail the treatment of specific fact patterns and types of entities or arrangements.	3(5) (d)	×	A	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	>	×
Reserves the right not to apply the rule of paragraph 2	3(5)(f)	×	A	×	>	×	×	>	>	×	×	×	>
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×

Countries in Green are yet to submit ratified instruments to the OECD Countries in Red have submitted their ratified instruments to the OECD

Only where existing treaties do not have a similar clause. India does not have a similar clause. Hence it should apply.

Article 3 does not impact India's treaties since India has reserved against the application of Article 3 in its entirety. India's position, as enunciated in the Schellenberg ruling of the Authority for Advance Rulings, is that where members of a fiscally transparent entity are

subject to tax on the income of the fiscally transparent entity, treaty benefits may be available to such members only where the language of the relevant bilateral treaty expressly provides for it.

5. Dual Resident Entities

determined by mutual agreement between the Treaty Partners. Treaty benefits are in principle withheld from the entity until such agreement is reached.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	N N	USA	MAU	rux	SWE	50	¥	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	RE
Applies paragraph 1	4(1)	>	Ā	×	×	×	×	>	\ \	>	×	>	>
Reserves the right not to apply paragraph 1 to treaty provisions that already require resolution of dual residence by mutual agreement.	4(3)(b)	×	A	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	>
Reserves the right not to apply the paragraph 1 to treaty provisions that deny treaty benefits in cases of dual residence without requiring the competent authorities to reach mutual agreement	4(3)(c)	×	Ž	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Replaces the last sentence of paragraph 1 with the sentence, "In the absence of such agreement, such person shall not be entitled to any relied or exemption from tax provided by the Covered Tax Agreement."	4(3)(e)	×	K	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	×	×	×
Reserves the right not to apply the entire article to its CTA with Parties that have made the reservation described in subparagraph e).	4(3)(f)	×	A	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	>
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	×	×	×	>	>	×	×	>	>

Japan reserves the right to replace the last sentence of Article 4(1) of the Convention with the following text for the purposes of its Covered Tax Agreements: "In the absence of such agreement, such person shall not be entitled to any relief or exemption from tax provided by the Covered Tax Agreement."

India has chosen to apply Article 4. However, given the reservations of other treaty partners, it will amend only the treaty with the UK, Japan, Canada, Netherlands and Ireland. In practice, as a consequence of the introduction of the POEM test to determine residence under India's domestic tax, there is likely to be a higher incidence of the treaty tie-breaker provision being applied e.g., where a foreign company is rendered resident of India (as a result of POEM), and a resident of its country of establishment (since such country attaches importance to the

place of incorporation of the company). It is unlikely that India will readily concede to the jurisdiction of residence of a dual resident entity being determined in favour of any country other than India. In such a scenario, it is likely that the competent authorities may be unable to reach an agreement on the residence of a dual resident entity, and accordingly, such entity would not be entitled to any benefits under the treaty, except to the extent agreed between India and the respective country.

6. Application of Methods for Elimination of Double Taxation

Article 5 provides three options to countries with respect to elimination of double taxation that may exist where countries follow the exemption method to eliminate double taxation: (a) disallow the exemption method for income that is exempt or subject to a reduced treaty rate in the other jurisdiction, (b) disallow the exemption method for dividends that are deductible in the other jurisdiction and (c) solely apply the credit method.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	IND	USA	MAU	rnx	SWE	SG	Ž	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	RE
Applies Option A (credit method instead of exemption method for any income that is exempt or taxed at a reduced tax rate by other state pursuant to Covered Tax Agreement; cf. art. 23A(4) OECD Model)	5(2)	×	A	×	>	×	×	×	×	×	×	>	×
Applies Option B (credit method instead of exemption method for dividends that are deductible for payer in other state)	5(4)	×	Ą	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Applies Option C (credit method for all income that may be taxed in other state)	5(6)	>	V	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Applies none of the options	5(1)	×	Ā	×	×	×	×	>	>	×	×	×	>
Reserves the right not to allow treaty partners to apply Option C with respect to one or more identified or all of its Covered Tax Agreements.	5(9)	×	Ą	×	>	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Reserves the right for Article 5 not to apply to its CTAs	5(8)	×	A	>	×	>	>	×	×	>	>	×	×
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×

India has chosen to Apply Option C under Article 5 to its covered tax agreements. This is most likely because India generally does not employ the exemption method of eliminating double taxation in its bilateral tax treaties, preferring to use the credit method (Article 23B of the Model Convention) with some variations on a treaty specific basis. Accordingly, there should be no amendments in cases above where countries have made this article inapplicable in its entirety, for instance Canada, France, Singapore and Sweden. However, in other cases, even if the options chosen are different or if no option is chosen, double taxation shall be eliminated based on the options chosen by the respective countries.

7. Purpose of a Covered Tax Agreement

Article 6 is a minimum standard and inserts language in the preamble of tax treaties stating that treaty jurisdictions do not intend to create opportunities for tax evasion or avoidance. As a BEPS minimum standard this provision is mandatory.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	Q N	NSA	MAU	rnx	SWE	50	OK O	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	INE.
Applies paragraph 1	6(1)	» >	Ą	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>
Includes a reference in preamble to 'developing economic relationship and enhancing cooperation in tax matters'	6(3)	×	A	>	>	×	>	>	>	×	×	×	>
Reserves the right not to apply provision to Covered Tax Agreements that already contain preamble language describing that treaty jurisdictions do not intend to create opportunities for tax evasion or avoidance	6(4)	×	d	×	>	×	×	× 10	*	×	×	×	×
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>

India has remained silent on applicability of Article 6. Hence, it shall be applicable as it is minimum standard and other countries have opted for it while choosing India to be a CTA.

^{9.} Only for Bulgaria and Germany

^{10.} Only for Belarus, Ukraine and Uzbekistan

^{11.} Only for Germany

India has been silent on its position on Article 6. Therefore, in the absence of India notifying any treaty provisions/preamble language, the MLI Preamble will not replace the existing preamble language in India's CTAs but will only be added to the existing preamble text, irrespective of whether the other Treaty Partners notify India's treaty for this purpose. However, there will be no change to the treaty with Mauritius and the USA, since Mauritius has not notified its treaty with India as a CTA, and the USA is not a party to the MLI. However, this is based on the positions adopted at the time of entry into force of the MLI in India and such position may change at the time of submission of the ratified instrument by other countries.

This is the most important change along with local General Anti Avoidance Rules which would have an impact on the structuring of cross border transactions. While it was settled law earlier that the treaties were intended to provide relief and therefore had to be interpreted in a taxpayer friendly manner, the addition of the words prevention of double-non taxation, reduced taxation or treaty shopping is likely to result in a significant change.

Nevertheless, the carve out in the MLI allows for treaty benefits to be provided its not an abuse or misuse of the treaty as set out in the analysis of Article 7 below.

8. Prevention of Treaty Abuse

Article 7 is a minimum standard and provides that countries must include one of the following in their tax treaties: (i) a principal purpose test ("PPT"), (ii) a PPT together with a simplified limited limitation on benefits ("LOB") test or (iii) an extensive LOB together with an anti-conduit provision.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	Q.	USA	MAU	rnx	SWE	5	Ž	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	RE
Applies PPT	7(1)	>	Ą	✓ 12	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>
Applies discretionary relief under PPT	7(4)	×	A	>	>	×	>	>	×	×	×	>	>
Reserves the right not to apply the PPT to Covered Tax Agreements that already contain a principal purpose test	7(15)(b)	×	A A	×	>	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Opts for Simplified LOB	7(6)	>	₹ Z	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Chooses to apply the Simplified LOB only in relation to treaty partners that have opted for the Simplified LOB	7(7)(a)	×	A	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Allows a treaty partner that has opted for the Simplified LOB to apply the Simplified asymmetrically	7(7)(b)	×	A A	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Amendment to tax treaty with India (PPT)?			×	×	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>
Amendment to tax treaty with India (Simplified LOB)?			×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×

Mauritius has expressed a statement that while Mauritius accepts the application of Article 7(1) alone as an interim measure, it intends where possible to adopt a limitation on bene-

In its final notification, India has chosen to apply the PPT with the Simplified LOB across all its Notified Treaties. So far as the PPT is concerned, being a default test, it should apply across the board in all of India's treaties irrespective of the other position adopted by the other countries. Since India is only one among 12 countries to have chosen to apply the SLOB, only a PPT is likely to apply to India's CTAs since India has not chosen a reservation to negotiate a detailed LOB with those Treaty Partners who have not chosen the SLOB. Further, most of its other Treaty Partners (including several European countries) have chosen not to allow a one sided symmetric or asymmetric application of the SLOB, thereby resulting in application of only a PPT to those treaties. If the India-Mauritius DTAA does not get covered by the provision of the MLI as stated above, the tests mentioned under this article should not apply. However, in the instances where they do, there appears to be no grandfathering provisions at this point in time and hence may be applicable to future transactions, even though the structure may have been set up prior to the introduction of MLI.

Further, the PPT under the MLI in some cases could potentially be broader in ambit than the General Anti-Avoidance Rule ("GAAR") under India's domestic tax laws as the latter gets triggered only if the "main purpose" of the arrangement is to obtain a tax benefit. Further, in order for GAAR to get triggered, one of the other tainted elements also needs to be satisfied, i.e., creation of rights or obligations that are not at arm's length, abuse of ITA, lack of commercial substance, or lack of bona fides. Therefore, it may be unlikely for GAAR to get triggered if the PPT is met, except in situations where the PPT is avoided on the ground that the benefit was in accordance with the object and purpose of the treaty provision. GAAR may still get triggered in such situations as it does not provide for such a carve-out.

9. Dividend Transfer Transactions

Article 8 provides that a reduced rate of source state taxation on dividends pursuant to a tax treaty only applies if a minimum ownership threshold required by the tax treaty is met throughout a retrospective 365-day testing period. This provision applies only where both contracting states have notified the relevant provision in their CTA.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	<u>N</u>	USA	MAU LUX	rux	SWE	SG	Ä	JAP	CAN	FRA NED	NED	R
Applies article?	8(1)	✓ 13	Ą Z	×	×	×	×	×	×	>	>	>	>
Reserves the right for the paragraph not to apply to its CTAs to the extent that the provisions referred to in paragraph 1 already include a minimum holding period	8(3(b)	7 14	d	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×

13. In its list of provisional notifications, of the countries considered, India has only notified USA, Singapore and Canada.

In its list of provisional notifications, of the countries considered, India has only notifie
 India has notified article 10(2) of the treaty with Portugal.

Article 8 is unlikely to have a significant impact on the distribution of dividends. This is because India does not impose a withholding tax on dividend distributions, ¹⁵ preferring instead to impose a Dividends Distribution Tax (DDT) on corporate profits out of which dividends are distributed in the hands of the company making such distribution. Hence, any limitation on the availability of treaty benefits with respect to taxes on dividends in unlikely to have an impact on the DDT or the distributions made by Indian companies.

^{15.} Up to an aggregate annual dividend income of INR. 10 lakhs.

10. Capital Gains on Shares in Real Estate Companies

Article 9 introduces a retrospective 365-day testing period with respect to a value threshold in the definition of 'real estate company' in a tax treaty and/or includes 'ownership interests comparable to shares' in CTAs that already includes provisions to tax capital gains derived from shares in real estate companies, or (optionally) replaces existing Covered Tax Agreement provisions entirely with the new art. 13(4) of the OECD Model as per the final BEPS Action 6 report, or adds this provision to Covered Tax Agreements currently lacking a provision on real estate companies.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	<u>N</u>	USA	MAU LUX SWE	rux		SG	Ž	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	RE
Applies the retrospective 365-day testing period to existing provisions on real estate companies	9(1) (a)/9(6) (d)	>	A	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	>	>	>
Applies the inclusion of interests comparable to shares to existing provisions on real estate companies	9(1) (b)/9(6) (e)	>	d	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	>	>	×
Chooses to replace or add provision on real estate companies	9(4)	>	A	×	×	×	×	×	>	>	>	×	>
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	>	>	>

Since India has chosen to apply the Optional Provision under paragraph 4, it would apply only in cases where the other Treaty Partner has also chosen to apply paragraph 4. In all other cases, the provisions notified under paragraph 7 shall be modified in such a manner that paragraph 1 shall apply to the CTAs where the Treaty Partner has not reserved the applicability of this Article. Hence, the applicability of this Article is dependent on the positions adopted by other Treaty Partners.

11. Third-country PE

Article 10 denies treaty benefits for income that the state of residence of the taxpayer attributes to a low-taxed permanent establishment (PE) of the taxpayer in a third country, unless an active trade or business is carried out in that PE.

Options & MLI Article IND USA MAU LUX Reservations	MLI Article	Q N	USA	IND USA MAU LUX SWE	rux	SWE SG UK JAP CAN FRA NED IRE	50	Ž	JAP	CAN	FRA	SG UK JAP CAN FRA NED IRE	RE
Applies article?	10(1) - 10(3)	>	¥	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	×	>	×
Relevant provisions of ludia treaty amended to the extent not compatible with paragraph 1?			×	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	×	>	×

India has not reserved the applicability of this Article. However, it has also not notified any provisions in the CTA to which this Article should apply to. Therefore, this Article should apply to India's tax treaties, except where the respective Treaty Partner has reserved against the applicability of this Article, or has not notified its treaty with India as a CTA.

12. Savings Clause

Article II allows a state to tax its own residents notwithstanding the provisions of a tax treaty.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	Q	USA	MAU	rnx	SWE	58	Ž	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	IRE
Applies article? 11(1) \checkmark NA X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X	11(1)	>	Ą.	×	×	×	×	>	×	×	×	×	×
Relevant provisions of the extent not compatible with paragraph 1?			×	×	×	×	×	>	×	×	×	×	×

India has not expressly reserved the applicability of Article II in its provisional notification. However, in the absence of an express reservation, the provisions of Article II will apply to India's CTAs, except where a reservation has been made by one of India's treaty partners.

13. Artificial Avoidance of PE Status – Commissionaire Arrangements

Article 12 lowers the threshold for the existence of a dependent agent PE to include foreign persons acting on behalf of a taxpayer that habitually play a principal role in the conclusion of contracts on behalf or by the taxpayer.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	Q N	USA	IND USA MAU LUX SWE SG UK JAP CAN FRA NED IRE	rnx	SWE	50	Š	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	RE
Applies article? 12(1)	12(1) and 12(2) ¹⁶	>	Ą	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	>	×	×
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	>	×	×

These provisions apply only where both parties to a treaty have notified the treaty with respect to this provision.

Keeping in mind that several of India's treaties already provide for some of the recommended provisions under Article 12 (or a similar version), it is no surprise that India has not chosen to exercise its right of reservation and has accordingly notified all its treaties with respect to both paragraphs 1 and 2 of Article 12. By making this choice India has effectively sought to bring all its treaties in line with the MLI. However, it should be noted that these provisions will only apply to a particular tax treaty to the extent that India's relevant treaty partner has similarly not exercised its right of reservation, and notified India with respect to Article 12. Therefore, where both Treaty Partners have notified Article 12 as being applicable, instances where commissionaire arrangements exist would now constitute a PE, such as in the case of the Japan. There have been several cases in the recent past where the courts have agreed to an expanded view on the agency PE and the implementation of these standards is likely to increase the chances of a tax exposure. Hence, current arrangements should be reviewed to ensure that any tax exposure is anticipated in advance and mitigated.

14. Artificial Avoidance of PE Status – Specific Activity Exemption

Article 13 stipulates that: (a) the specific activity exemption in the treaty definitions of a PE applies only to activities of an auxiliary or preparatory character or (b) the specific activity exemption in the treaty definitions of a PE applies irrespective of whether an activity is of an auxiliary or preparatory character. The anti-fragmentation rule aggregates activities carried on by closely related enterprises for purposes of determining the existence of a PE.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	QN	USA	MAU	rux	SWE	98	Š S	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	RE
Applies Option A (specific activity exemption applies only to activities of auxiliary or preparatory character)	13(2)	>	A	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	×	>	×
Applies Option B (specific activity exemption applies irrespective of whether activity is of auxiliary or preparatory character)	13(3)	×	A	×	>	×	>	×	×	×	>	×	>
Applies anti- fragmentation rule	13(4)	>	Ą	×	×	×	×	>	>	×	>	>	>
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	×	×	×	>	>	×	×	>	×
Anti-fragmentation rule applicable to tax treaty with India			×	×	×	×	×	>	>	×	>	>	>

While Parties to the MLI have been given the right to reserve the applicability of Article 13 in its entirely, or reserve against only paragraph 2 or paragraph 4, India has chosen to notify Option A and not exercise its right to reservation with respect to paragraph 4. This essentially means that India's tax treaties will be modified to replace existing provisions with respect to specific activity exemptions with the language of Option A, but only to the extent that India' treaty partner has also notified Option A. In the event that a treaty partner reserves Article 13 or chooses to notify Option B, the tax treaty between India and such country will remain unchanged. Further, by not actively exercising its right to reserve the applicability of paragraph 4, India has agreed to apply the provision to its treaties. However, the change will only take place between India and its treaty partners if such treaty partner also refrains from exercising its right to reserve and has notified its treaty with India for this purpose.

15. Splitting-up of Contracts

Article 14 provides that for the determination if a building site, or construction or installation project constitutes a PE, (i) activities carried on during one or more periods of time that, in the aggregate, exceed 30 days and (ii) connected activities carried on by closely related enterprises, are aggregated.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	Q N	USA	USA MAU LUX SWE SG	rux	SWE	50	UK	JAP	CAN	JAP CAN FRA NED	NED	IRE
Applies article?	14(1)	>	Ą	×	×	×	×	×	×	×			>
Reserves the right not to apply provision with respect to existing treaty provisions relating to the exploration for or exploitation of natural resources	14(3) (b)	×	A	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	>	>
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	>	>

As India has neither stated its reservation with respect to Article 14, nor do any of its treaties have existing language with respect to the splitting up on contracts, Article 14 should be applicable to all of India's tax treaties where its relevant treaty partner has also not specified a reservation. This is likely to have an impact on works contracts and the formation of service PEs in India

16. Definition of 'Closely Related Persons'

Article 15 provides that persons are closely related if one has control of the other or both are under the control of the same person. A close relationship is deemed to exist in case a threshold of 50% of vote and value in a company is met.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	IND	USA	MAU LUX		SWE	50	¥	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	IRE
Applies article?	15(1)	>	¥.	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>
Reserves the right for the entirety of Article 15 not to apply to the Covered Tax Agreement to which the reservations described in Article 12(4), Article 13(6) (a) or (c), and Article 14(3)(a) apply.	15(2)	×	Q	>	>	>	>	×	×	>	×	×	×
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	×	×	×	>	>	×	>	>	>

India has not exercised its right of reservation with respect to Article 15, and all its treaties stand modified to include this provision to the extent that its relevant treaty partner has also not made such reservation.

17. Mutual Agreement Procedure

Article 16 implements the BEPS minimum standard for mutual agreement procedures which is intended to ensure an effective and timely resolution of treaty-related disputes. The BEPS minimum standard is complemented by optional best practices.

Options & Reservations	MLI Article	Q N	USA	MAU	TUX	SWE	S	Y N	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	RE
Applies article?	16(1) - 16(3)	>	Ā	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>
Reserves the right not to apply the first sentence of 16(1): "Where a person considers that the actions of one or both of the Contracting Jurisdictions result or will result for that person in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of the Covered Tax Agreement, that person may, irrespective of the remedies provided by the domestic law of those Contracting Jurisdictions, present the case to the competent authority of either Contracting Jurisdiction."	16(5)(a)	>	d	×	×	×	>	×	×	>	×	×	×
Reserves the right not to apply the second sentence of 16(2): "Any agreement reached shall be implemented notwithstanding any time limits in the domestic law of the Contracting Jurisdictions."	16(5)(c)	×	A	×	×	×	×	×	×	>	×	×	×
First sentence of para 1 applicable to India treaty?				×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Amendment to tax treaty with India?			×	×	>	>	>	>	>	✓17	>	>	>

17. Except the second sentence of 16(2).

India has made a specific reservation against the first sentence of Article 16(1) on the basis that it intends to meet the minimum standard required under the BEPS Action Plan 14. India has not made any additional reservations, and has notified the relevant CTAs with respect to the remaining provisions under Article 16. Keeping in mind that India does not have a reservation against the second sentence of Article 16(1) and that the provision is applicable in the in place of or in the absence of the relevant provision, all of India's CTA should be modified to the extent that the relevant treaty party has not made a reservation with respect to the same.

18. Corresponding Adjustments

Article 17 requires jurisdictions to make an adjustment to the profits of a taxpayer in its jurisdiction if the other contracting jurisdiction makes an at arm's length pricing adjustment to the profits of a taxpayer in that other contracting jurisdiction. Any increase or decrease in that other jurisdiction would be mirrored by a corresponding adjustment to the profits of the taxpayer in the first jurisdiction.

Options & Reservations	MLI IND USA MAU LUX SWE SG UK JAP CAN FRA NED IRE Article	IND	USA	IND USA MAU LUX SWE SG UK JAP CAN FRA NED IRE	LUX	SWE	SG	A N	JAP	CAN	FRA	NED	IRE
Applies article?		>	¥	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>
Reserve applicability against treaties which already contain similar provision		>	N	×	×	>	×	×	×	>	×	×	>
Change to India treaty?	× × × × × × × ×		×	×	×	>	×	×	×	×	>	×	×

India has reserved the right for the entirety of Article 17 not to apply to its Covered Tax Agreements that already contain a provision described in paragraph 2 of Article 17 of the MLI.

For a more detailed analysis of India's MLI position, please refer to the research paper by Nishith Desai Associates available at the following address:

http://www.nishithdesai.com/fileadmin/user_upload/pdfs/Research_Papers/India_s_MLI_Positions.pdf

The following research papers and much more are available on our Knowledge Site: www.nishithdesai.com



NDA Insights

TITLE	TYPE	DATE
Delhi Tribunal: Hitachi Singapore's Liaison Office in India is a Permanent Establishment, Scope of Exclusion Under Singapore Treaty Restrictive	Tax	November 2019
CBDT issues clarification around availment of additional depreciation and MAT credit for companies availing lower rate of tax	Tax	October 2019
Bombay High Court quashes 197 order rejecting Mauritius tax treaty benefits	Tax	May 2019
Investment Arbitration & India – 2019 Year in review	Dispute	January2020
Changing landscape of confidentiality in international arbitration	Dispute	January 2020
The Arbitration and Conciliation Amendment Act, 2019 – A new dawn or sinking into a morass?	Dispute	January 2020
Why, how, and to what extent AI could enter the decision-making boardroom?	TMT	January 2020
Privacy in India - Wheels in motion for an epic 2020	TMT	December 2019
Court orders Global Take Down of Content Uploaded from India	TMT	November 2019
Graveyard Shift in India: Employers in Bangalore / Karnataka Permitted to Engage Women Employees at Night in Factories	HR	December 2019
India's Provident Fund law: proposed amendments and new circular helps employers see light at the tunnel's end	HR	August 2019
Crèche Facility By Employers in India: Rules Notified for Bangalore	HR	August 2019
Pharma Year-End Wrap: Signs of exciting times ahead?	Pharma	December 2019
Medical Device Revamp: Regulatory Pathway or Regulatory Maze?	Pharma	November 2019
Prohibition of E-Cigarettes: End of ENDS?	Pharma	September 2019

Research@NDA

Research is the DNA of NDA. In early 1980s, our firm emerged from an extensive, and then pioneering, research by Nishith M. Desai on the taxation of cross-border transactions. The research book written by him provided the foundation for our international tax practice. Since then, we have relied upon research to be the cornerstone of our practice development. Today, research is fully ingrained in the firm's culture.

Our dedication to research has been instrumental in creating thought leadership in various areas of law and public policy. Through research, we develop intellectual capital and leverage it actively for both our clients and the development of our associates. We use research to discover new thinking, approaches, skills and reflections on jurisprudence, and ultimately deliver superior value to our clients. Over time, we have embedded a culture and built processes of learning through research that give us a robust edge in providing best quality advices and services to our clients, to our fraternity and to the community at large.

Every member of the firm is required to participate in research activities. The seeds of research are typically sown in hour-long continuing education sessions conducted every day as the first thing in the morning. Free interactions in these sessions help associates identify new legal, regulatory, technological and business trends that require intellectual investigation from the legal and tax perspectives. Then, one or few associates take up an emerging trend or issue under the guidance of seniors and put it through our "Anticipate-Prepare-Deliver" research model.

As the first step, they would conduct a capsule research, which involves a quick analysis of readily available secondary data. Often such basic research provides valuable insights and creates broader understanding of the issue for the involved associates, who in turn would disseminate it to other associates through tacit and explicit knowledge exchange processes. For us, knowledge sharing is as important an attribute as knowledge acquisition.

When the issue requires further investigation, we develop an extensive research paper. Often we collect our own primary data when we feel the issue demands going deep to the root or when we find gaps in secondary data. In some cases, we have even taken up multi-year research projects to investigate every aspect of the topic and build unparallel mastery. Our TMT practice, IP practice, Pharma & Healthcare/Med-Tech and Medical Device, practice and energy sector practice have emerged from such projects. Research in essence graduates to Knowledge, and finally to *Intellectual Property*.

Over the years, we have produced some outstanding research papers, articles, webinars and talks. Almost on daily basis, we analyze and offer our perspective on latest legal developments through our regular "Hotlines", which go out to our clients and fraternity. These Hotlines provide immediate awareness and quick reference, and have been eagerly received. We also provide expanded commentary on issues through detailed articles for publication in newspapers and periodicals for dissemination to wider audience. Our Lab Reports dissect and analyze a published, distinctive legal transaction using multiple lenses and offer various perspectives, including some even overlooked by the executors of the transaction. We regularly write extensive research articles and disseminate them through our website. Our research has also contributed to public policy discourse, helped state and central governments in drafting statutes, and provided regulators with much needed comparative research for rule making. Our discourses on Taxation of eCommerce, Arbitration, and Direct Tax Code have been widely acknowledged. Although we invest heavily in terms of time and expenses in our research activities, we are happy to provide unlimited access to our research to our clients and the community for greater good.

As we continue to grow through our research-based approach, we now have established an exclusive four-acre, state-of-the-art research center, just a 45-minute ferry ride from Mumbai but in the middle of verdant hills of reclusive Alibaug-Raigadh district. **Imaginarium AliGunjan** is a platform for creative thinking; an apolitical ecosystem that connects multi-disciplinary threads of ideas, innovation and imagination. Designed to inspire 'blue sky' thinking, research, exploration and synthesis, reflections and communication, it aims to bring in wholeness—that leads to answers to the biggest challenges of our time and beyond. It seeks to be a bridge that connects the futuristic advancements of diverse disciplines. It offers a space, both virtually and literally, for integration and synthesis of knowhow and innovation from various streams and serves as a dais to internationally renowned professionals to share their expertise and experience with our associates and select clients.

We would love to hear your suggestions on our research reports. Please feel free to contact us at research@nishithdesai.com

Nishith Desai Associates LEGAL AND TAX COUNSELING WORLDWIDE

MUMBAI

93 B, Mittal Court, Nariman Point Mumbai 400 021, India

tel +91 22 6669 5000 fax +91 22 6669 5001

SINGAPORE

Level 30, Six Battery Road Singapore 049 909

tel + 65 65509855

MUNICH

Maximilianstraße 13 80539 Munich, Germany

tel +49 89 203 006 268 fax +49 89 203 006 450

SILICON VALLEY

220 California Avenue, Suite 201 Palo Alto, CA 94306-1636, USA

tel +1 650 325 7100 fax +1 650 325 7300

MUMBAI BKC

3, North Avenue, Maker Maxity Bandra-Kurla Complex Mumbai 400 051, India

tel +91 22 6159 5000 fax +91 22 6159 5001

NEW YORK

1185 Avenue of the Americas, Suite 326 New York, NY 10036, USA

tel +1 212 464 7050

BANGALORE

Prestige Loka, G01, 7/1 Brunton Rd Bangalore 560 025, India

tel +91 80 6693 5000 fax +91 80 6693 5001

NEW DELHI

C-5, Defence Colony New Delhi 110 024, India

tel +91 11 4906 5000 fax +91 11 4906 5001